REVI SED, Cctober 19, 1999

UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 98-60137

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
VERSUS

JEFFERY W d ECER;, TRACIE L. G EGER
Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeals fromthe United States District Court
For the Southern District of M ssissippi

Sept enber 24, 1999
Bef ore REYNALDO G GARZA, H GE NBOTHAM and DAVIS, Circuit Judges.

W EUGENE DAVIS, Circuit Judge:

Def endant s- Appel l ants Jeffery W G eger and Tracie L. G eger
(the “G egers”) chall enge on a nunber of grounds their convictions
for conspiracy to submt false clains to Medicare in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 286. For the reasons that follow, we affirm their
convictions. However, we vacate their sentences and remand this
case for resentencing.

| .

In 1992, the Gegers founded G eger Transfer Service,
Inc./ G eger Anbul ance Service (“GAS’) to transport both energency
and non-energency patients. GAS expanded rapidly and by the tine
t he conpany was sold in 1997, GAS operated over forty anbul ances in

twel ve counties in rural Southeastern M ssissippi.



GAS transported a |large nunber of Medicare patients. After
1993, GAS filed electronic rei nbursenent requests wth Medicare.
GAS's initial attenpts to obtain reinbursenment from Medicare did
not go snoothly. In response to this problem the G egers began
m srepresenting to Mdicare that all of GAS s non-energency
transports were for “bed-confined” patients. Consistent with this
billing practice, the Gegers instructed their paranedics and
energency nedi cal technicians not to use the word “anbul atory” on
the patient transport reports.

I n Decenber 1996, the Federal Bureau of Investigations (“FBI")
began investigating GAS s billing practices. After FBI Speci al
Agent G egory Deegan conducted an in-depth investigation, the
G egers were charged in a fifty-seven count indictnent. Thi s
i ndi ctment included charges of Medicare fraud, conspiracy to submt
fal se clains, noney |aundering, transmtting noney instrunments or
funds derived from specified unlawful activities, and a nunber of
simlar charges. In Cctober 1997, the G egers were tried on forty-
six counts of this indictnment. The jury returned a guilty verdict
on only Count 1--conspiracy to submt false clains to Medicare in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 286.1

At sentencing, the district court enhanced the G egers'
sentences because the Geigers abused a position of trust and the
conspiracy involved a “vulnerable victim” After the enhancenent,

the district court sentenced the Gegers to eighty nonths in

!Section 286 nakes it illegal for any person to “enter into
any agreenent, conbination or conspiracy to defraud the United
States, or any departnent or agency thereof, by obtaining or
aiding to obtain the paynent or all owance of any false, fictitious
or fraudulent claim” 18 U S.C. § 286.
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prison, three years of supervised release, a fine of $12,500, and
ordered restitution in the total amunt of $228,917. In this
appeal both Jeffery and Tracie G eger challenge their convictions
and sentences.
.
Traci e G eger makes a nunber of argunents on appeal. Jeffery
G eger adopts these argunents and al so nmakes argunents of his own.
We turn first to those argunents raised by Tracie G eger.
A
Tracie G eger first contends that the district court erred in
denyi ng her notion for judgnent of acquittal, or in the alternative
a new trial, on Count 1, the conspiracy count, because of the
jury’s failure to convict her on any substantive counts.
In this Crcuit, however, the law is clear that inconsistent
verdi cts are not a bar to conviction so long as there is sufficient
evidence to support the jury's determnation of guilt. See, e.

United States v. Sylvester, 143 F.3d 923, 930 (5th Cr. 1998)

(i nconsistent verdicts not a bar to conviction); United States V.

Scurlock, 52 F.3d 531, 537 (5th Cr. 1995) (jury can render
i nconsi stent verdicts, even when inconsistency is the result of
m st ake or conpromse). This argunent is without nerit.
B

Tracie G eger next argues that the district court nade a
nunber of erroneous evidentiary rulings that require reversal of
her conviction. These include: inproperly restricting defense
counsel’s cross-exam nation of key prosecution W tnesses;

inproperly overruling defense counsel’s objections during the



prosecution’s direct examnation of key wtnesses; inproperly
excl uding the testinony of defense expert wi tness Archi e Lancaster;
and i nposi ng nore stringent restrictions on the defense than on the
Governnment in exam ning witnesses. After exam ning the record, we
are satisfied that the district court did not abuse its discretion
in these chall enged rulings.

C.

Ms. G eger also makes two chall enges to her sentence. She
first contends that the district court erred in enhancing her
sentence and that of her fornmer husband based on the “vul nerable
victinf and “position of trust” provisions in the Sentencing
Qui del i nes.

Section 3Al.1(b) of the Sentencing Guidelines permts a two
| evel enhancenent of a defendant’s base offense | evel where “the
def endant knew or shoul d have known that a victim of the offense
was unusual 'y vul nerabl e due to age, physical or nental condition,
or that a victim was otherw se particularly susceptible to the
crimnal conduct.” U S. Sentencing Guidelines §8 3A1. 1(b). In this
case, the district court enhanced the G egers’ sentences because
“the victins of this offense were unusually vul nerabl e due to age,
physi cal or nmental condition and that the governnent as a victim
was ot herwi se particularly susceptible to the crimnal conduct
commtted by the defendant.” The G egers contend that this
enhancenent was not warrant ed because the patients were not victins
and the victim (the United States Governnent) was not vul nerable.
We agree.

First, the patients were not victins of the Gegers’ fraud



schenme. In contrast to other nedical fraud cases within this
Circuit in which patients suffered harmor at |east potential harm
from the fraudul ent schene,? the patients here suffered no harm
I nstead the patients benefitted fromthe schene--they received a
free ride to the hospital.

If the patients had paid noney through a deductible,
copaynent or simlar charge, they mght be considered victins of

the fraud. See United States v. Bachynsky, 949 F.2d 722, 735 (5th

Cr. 1991) (patients were victins in part because they paid
personal |y for bogus treatnent through copaynents and deducti bl es).
The Governnent, however, points to no evidence that the GAS
patients ever nade such paynents. In fact, as part of the
fraudul ent schenme, GAS prom sed patients that they would not be
required to nmake any paynent. At oral argunent, the Governnent
conceded that the patients were probably not victins of the schene.
Because they suffered no nedical harm and no financial harm the
patients cannot be considered victins of the G egers’ fraudul ent
schene.

We turn now to whether the vul nerabl e victimenhancenent can
be applied to the governnent. Section 3Al.1 of the Sentencing
CQuidelines is leveled at <crimnals who take advantage of
i ndividuals who are nore vulnerable than the average nenbers of

society, such as the elderly, the young, or the sick. See, e.q.,

2 See United States v. Burgos, 137 F.3d 841, 844 (5th Cir.
1998) (Patients “were often admtted to the hospital needl essly or
their stays in the hospital were extended beyond what was necessary

."); United States v. Bachynsky, 949 F.2d 722, 735 (5th Gr.
1991) (Unnecessary treatnent was frequently i neffective and i n sonme
case actually harnful to the patients).
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United States v. Miree, 897 F.2d 1329, 1336 (5th Gr. 1990). The

United States governnent sinply does not fall in the sanme category
as these nore vul nerabl e nenbers of society. If the United States
governnent is a vulnerable victim it is hard to imagine a victim
who woul d not be consi dered vul nerabl e.

The prosecutionrelies al nost entirely on a footnote in United

States v. Bachynsky, 949 F.2d 722 (5th G r. 1991), in support of

this enhancenent. |In that opinion, a panel of this Court stated,
in dicta, “we note that in this particular case the insurance
conpani es and the Departnent of Defense may thensel ves be deened
‘“vul nerabl e’ victins because of their ‘particular susceptibility’
to this type of fraud.” [d. at 736 n.10. W find this dicta
unper suasi ve and contrary to section 3A1.1 s text and we choose not
to followit. Instead, we are guided by the rational e underlying
this Court’s opinions in Mree, 897 F.2d at 1335-36 (Section 3Al1.1
would be triggered by the robbery of a blind, elderly, or
physi cal | y di sabl ed shopkeeper but not by theft from a bank, even
if the thief was aware of a security breach that rendered the bank

especially vulnerable), and in United States v. Burgos, 137 F.3d

841, 844 (5th CGr. 1998), in which we stated that insurance
conpani es “are not, and coul d not have been found to be, vul nerable
victins.” Both the text of section 3Al.1 and these cases persuade
us that the United States governnent cannot be considered a
vul nerable victim The district court therefore erred i n enhanci ng
the G egers' sentences on this basis.

Tracie G eger also argues that the district court erred by

enhancing the G egers’ sentences under section 3B.1.3 of the



Gui delines for abusing a position of trust. This section provides
a two-1 evel enhancenent for defendants who have “abused a position
of public or private trust . . . in a manner that significantly
facilitated the conmmssion or concealnent of the offense.”
US S G §83B1.3. W agree with the Governnent that this argunent
is barred by United States v. lloani, 143 F.3d 921, 922-23 (5th

Cir. 1998). In |loani we applied the enhancenent to a chiropractor
convi cted of defrauding insurers. Id. at 923. W held that a
chiropractor maintains a position of trust with the insurance
conpanies that he billed. 1d. at 923. In the instant case, the
def endants carried out their fraud by abusing a sim |l ar position of
trust with nedical insurers. Therefore, under |loani, the district
court did not err in enhancing the G egers’ sentences under section
3B1. 3.
D.

Tracie G eger’s final argunent chall enges the district court’s
order requiring that the G egers pay $228,917 in restitution to
Medi care. She contends that because she was acquitted on all the
subst antive counts, she cannot be required to pay restitution on
the conspiracy count. She also argues that because the district
court did not provide a specific factual basis for the restitution
order, the order nust be vacat ed.

We find her argunents unpersuasive. The conspiracy count is
an adequate basis for the restitution order. The court based the
anount of the restitution order on the anount that Medi care paid on
the fraudulent billings. The restitution order has sufficient

support .



L1,

W now turn to the additional argunents raised by Jeffery
G eger.

A

Jeffery G eger contends that his conviction cannot be upheld
because the evidence is legally insufficient. He argues first that
the Medi care guidelines are vague, confusing and conflicting and
the district court erredinrejecting his argunent that as a matter
of law he did not knowingly submt false clains. We are not
persuaded. The words “bed confined” were not so vague or confusi ng
that G eger was unable to discern their neaning.

We also reject Jeffery G eger’s argunent that he did not have
the state of mnd necessary for conviction because he was nerely
followng the instructions provided by United Healthcare and
relying on the advice of his |awer. The jury was entitled to find
that the Gegers had the requisite state of mnd to commt the
of f ense.

Jeffery Geger’'s final argunent on this issue is that his
claims were not “false” within the neaning of 18 U S. C § 286
because the two patients that the Governnent used at trial to
denonstrate the fraud were entitled to reinbursenent of their
transportation charges by Medicare even if they were not bed-
confi ned. G eger argues that both patients the governnent
presented as w tnesses, Henry Bush and Annie Scott, were entitled
to reinbursenent for their anbulance transportation on the
alternative ground that the transportation was nedi cal |y necessary.

He further contends that the district court erred in refusing to



permt the Gegers to submt evidence denonstrating their
eligibility on this alternative ground.

According to M. G eger’s theory, a defendant cannot violate
section 286 so long as he transports patients whose transportation
is covered by Medicare because it is nedically necessary, even if
he bases his rei nbursenent cl ai mon another reason -- even a fal se
or fraudul ent one.

We have found a nunber of cases rejecting argunents seeking a
simlar construction of the conpanion statute to section 286 -- 18
U S C 8§ 287, the substantive federal false clains statute. Courts
have expl ai ned t hat because the | anguage of section 287 (li ke 286)
covers not only those who submt “fraudulent” clains, but also
those who submt “false” or “fictitious” clains, a defendant nay
not escape the reach of the statute by arguing that the governnent
was not actually defrauded. While a claimnmay not be fraudul ent
under this section unless the defendant intends to obtain funds by
fraud from the federal governnent, a claimis fal se whenever it is
“known to be untrue by the person making it or causing it to be

made.” United States v. MIton, 602 F.2d 231,233 (9th Gr. 1979).

For exanple, in United States v. Belcker, 657 F.2d 629 (4th

Cr. 1981), the defendant contended that the trial court erred both
i n excluding evidence that the governnent “got it’s noney’s worth”
for consulting services perfornmed by the defendant and in failing
to instruct the jury that to convict it nust find that the
governnent did not recei ve adequat e val ue for the work perforned by
the defendant. 1d. at 634. The Fourth Crcuit rejected these

argunents, explaining that section 287, like 286, “is phrased in



the disjunctive, and a conviction under that statute nay therefore
be based on proof that a claim submtted to the governnment is
either false, fictitious or fraudulent.” [d.. Accordingly, the
court held that regardl ess of whether the governnent was actually
defrauded, the defendant had violated section 287 by know ngly

subm tting inaccurate claim forns. ld. at 635. Accord United

States v. MIton, 602 F.2d 231, 233 (9th Gr. 1979)(statenent need

only be false in order to violate section 287); cf. United States

v. Leahy, 82 F.3d 624, 634 n.11 (5th Cr. 1996)(holding that
def endant contractor violated section 286 even though the false
clains were irrelevant to the total anpbunt paid by the governnent
to the contractor).

Furthernore, as a nunber of courts have recogni zed, Congress
fashi oned the federal false claimstatutes to puni sh not only those
who woul d cheat the federal governnent, but also those who woul d

“mMmslead it in the admnistration of its prograns.” United States

v. White, 27 F.3d 1531, 1535 (11th Gr. 1994)(quoting United St ates

v. Johnson, 284 F. Supp. 273, 278 (WD. M. 1968), discussing

section 287). See also United States v. Maher, 582 F. 2d 842, 847-8

(4th CGr. 1978) (“The plain purpose of 8 287 is to assure the
integrity of clains and vouchers submtted to the governnent.”);

Pina v. United States, 165 F.2d 890, 893 (9th Gr. 1948)(“the

contenplated infliction of nonetary loss is not a necessary
ingredient of an intent to defraud the United States”). If we
accepted Geger’'s argunent on this point, Mdicare's task of
determ ning which clains are covered and rei nbursable would be an

i npossi bl e one. The rei nbursenent formwould be useless for this
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pur pose because the agency could not rely on the formto determ ne
coverage. W decline to endorse such an interpretation of sections
286 and 287.

Accordingly, we conclude that the wevidence is legally
sufficient to support the G egers’ convictions. W also conclude
that the district court did not abuse its discretion in excluding

the G egers’ evidence related to this argunent.

B.

Jeffery Geger also contends that his conviction nust be
overturned due to the i nadequacy of the record. |In support of his
claim he observes that the district court failed to place on the
record seventy-two bench conferences, nost of the bench conferences
fromthe trial.

Clearly many of these bench conferences should have been
pl aced on the record. Whet her this error mandates reversal,
however, is a separate issue. The law relating to inconplete

records inthis Circuit is set forthin United States v. Sel va, 559

F.2d 1303 (5th Cr. 1977). Under Selva, an appellant nust
generally show prejudice from om ssions or errors in the record
before such |apses require reversal. Id. at 1305. If the
appel l ant, however, is represented on appeal by an attorney other
than the one who represented himat trial, no show ng of prejudice
IS required. Id. Al that is required is that the appellant
denonstrate that the m ssing record portions are “significant and
substantial.” 1d. at 1306.

The CGovernnent contends that Jeffery Geger’s trial counsel,
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Sam Wlkins, is still his counsel because the court has not
released him from that position. But WIlkins did not file the
Noti ce of Appeal or nmake any ot her appearance in this court. Nor
does his nane appear on any of the briefs. We nust therefore
conclude that Jeffery Geger is represented by new counsel on
appeal . For that reason, we examne the record and attenpt to
deci pher what took place at the mssing bench conferences to
determne if they are “significant and substantial.” Wile the
entire context of all the bench conferences is not entirely clear,
we can determ ne the follow ng. Many of the bench conferences were
admnistrative in nature. These conferences are not inportant to
the record on appeal. Sone of the conferences were pernmtted to
allow further argunent on evidentiary objections. (Objections to
the court’s rulings follow ng these bench conferences nakes the
argunents leading up to the rulings uninportant to the record on
appeal . O her m ssing bench conferences concern counts on which the
G egers were acquitted. In sum while we agree with Jeffery G eger
t hat many of these bench conferences shoul d have been placed on the
record, we are not convinced that these bench conferences are
substantial and significant. W therefore decline to reverse the

G egers’ convictions on this ground.

Concl usi on
For the reasons stated above, we affirm Appellants’
convictions. W affirm Appellants’ sentence with one exception.
We agree with Appellants that their sentences should not have been

enhanced under the “vul nerable victini provision of the Sentencing

12



CGui delines. Therefore, we vacate Appellants’ sentences and renand

this case to the district court for resentencing.

AFFI RVED in part, VACATED in part, and REMANDED.
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